# AGREEMENT

# BETWEEN

# CAMDEN COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS



AND

CWA LOCAL 1014 (LARGE UNIT 24/7 EMPLOYEES)



JANUARY 1, 2019 TO DECEMBER 31, 2023

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

PREAMBLE	
ARTICLE I – RECOGNITION	
ARTICLE II – UNION DUES DEDUCTIONS	
ARTICLE IIA – WORKPLACE DEMOCRACY ACT	
ARTICLE III – WORK SCHEDULES	
ARTICLE IV – OVERTIME	
ARTICLE V – CALL IN TIME	
ARTICLE VI – RATES OF PAY	
ARTICLE VII – INSURANCE	
ARTICLE VIII – SICK LEAVE WITH PAY	
ARTICLE IX – MILITARY LEAVE	
ARTICLE X – JURY DUTY	
ARTICLE XI – COURT TIME	
ARTICLE XII – EMERGENCY LEAVE	
ARTICLE XIII – BEREAVEMENT LEAVE	
ARTICLE XIV - MATERNITY LEAVE	
ARTICLE XV PERSONAL DAYS	
ARTICLE XVI – FRINGE BENEFITS	
ARTICLE XVII – SENIORITY	
ARTICLE XVIII - HOLIDAYS	
ARTICLE XIX - DIFFERENTIAL PAY	
ARTICLE XX – VACATIONS	
ARTICLE XXI – STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS	
ARTICLE XXII – SAFETY AND HEALTH	
ARTICLE XXIII – EQUAL TREATMENT	
ARTICLE XXIV – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	
ARTICLE XXV - WORKERS' COMPENSATION	
ARTICLE XXVI – GENERAL PROVISIONS	
ARTICLE XXVII - SEPARABILITY AND SAVINGS	
ARTICLE XXVIII - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	
ARTICLE XXIX - FULLY BARGAINED AGREEMENT	
ARTICLE XXX - DURATION	
APPENDIX A - P.L. 2011 CHAPTER 78	31
APPENDIX B – WAGE SCALE FOR EMPLOYEES HIRED BEFORE 10/26/10	
APPENDIX C – WAGE SCALE FOR EMPLOYEES HIRED AFTER 10/26/10	
APPENDIX D - FXCFRPTS OF NEW JERSEY EARNED SICK LEAVE LAW	

#### **PREAMBLE**

This Agreement entered into this 4th day of August, 2021 by and between the Camden County Board Of Chosen Freeholders, hereinafter called the "County", and CWA Local 1014, hereinafter called the "Union", has as its purpose the promotion of harmonious relations between the County and the Union; the establishment of an equitable and peaceful procedure for the resolution of differences; and the establishment of rates of pay, hours of work, and other conditions of employment, and represents the complete and final understanding on all the bargainable issues between the County and the Union.

#### ARTICLE I-RECOGNITION

The Board of Chosen Freeholders recognizes the Council as being the bargaining agent for the purpose of establishing salaries, wages, hours, and other conditions of employment for all of its employees in the classifications listed and attached hereto and by reference made a part of this Agreement, and for such additional classifications as the parties may later agree in writing to include. The County shall notify the Union in writing prior to the creation of new titles, of new classifications of employees, or the filling of existing positions.

#### ARTICLE II – UNION DUEES DEDUCTIONS

- A) The County agrees to deduct from the salaries of its employees, subject to this Agreement, dues for the Union from those employees who individually request in writing that such deductions be made.
- B) Dues deductions shall commence for each employee who signs a properly dated authorization form, supplied by the Union during the month following the filing of such form with the County.
- C) The aggregate deductions from all employees shall be remitted to the Treasurer of the Union, together with the list of names of all employees for whom the deductions were made, by the fifteenth (15th) day of the succeeding month after such deductions were made.
- D) If during the life of this Agreement there shall be any change in the rate of membership dues, the Union shall furnish the County written notice thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of such change and shall furnish to the County either new authorizations from its members showing the authorized deduction for each employee, or an official notification on the letter head of the Union and signed by the President of the Union or Local Representative advising of such changed deduction.
- E) The Union will provide the necessary "check-off authorization" form and the Union will secure the signatures of its members on the forms and deliver the signed forms to the County Treasurer.
- F) As prescribed by law, employees who have authorized the payroll deduction of fees to CWA Local 1014 may revoke such authorization by providing written notice to the County during the ten (10) days following each anniversary date of their employment. Within five (5) days of receipt of notice from an employee of revocation of authorization for the payroll deduction

of fees, the County shall provide written notice to CWA Local 1014 of an employee's revocation of such authorization. The effective date of a termination in deductions shall be July 1 next succeeding the date on which notice of withdrawal is filed by an employee with the County's disbursing officer.

- G) The County agrees to deduct an amount equal to CWA Local 1014's initial membership fee from an employee's wages, upon proper notice by CWA Local 1014 to the County, and remit it, forthwith, to CWA Local 1014.
- H) The Union shall indemnify, defend, and save the County harmless against any and all claims, demands, suits, or other forms of liability that shall arise out of or by reason of action taken by the County or in reliance upon information furnished by the Union or official notification on the letter head of the Union and signed by the President of the Union or Local Representative.

# ARTICLE IIA – WORKPLACE DEMOCRACY ACT

CWA Local 1014 shall have the following rights:

- 1) The right to meet with individual employees on the premises of the County during the work day to investigate and discuss grievances, workplace-related complaints, and other workplace issues;
- 2) The right to conduct worksite meetings during lunch and other non-work breaks, and before and after the workday, on the County's premises to discuss workplace issues, collective negotiations, the administration of collective negotiations agreements, other matters related to the duties of CWA Local 1014, and internal union matters involving the governance or business of CWA Local 1014; and
- 3) The right to meet with newly hired employees, without charge to the pay or leave time of the employees, for a minimum of 30 and a maximum of 120 minutes, within 30 calendar days from the date of hire, during new employee orientations, or if the County does not conduct new employee orientations, at individual or group meetings.
- 4) Within 10 calendar days from the date of hire of negotiations unit employees, the County shall provide the following contact information to CWA Local 1014 in an Excel file format or other format agreed to by the CWA: name, job title, worksite location, home address, work telephone numbers, and any home and personal cellular telephone numbers on file with the County, date of hire, and work email address and any personal email address on file with the County. Every 120 calendar days beginning on January 1, 2019 the County shall provide CWA Local 1014, in an Excel file or similar format agreed to by the CWA, the following information for all negotiations unit employees: name, job title, worksite location, home address, work, home and personal cellular telephone numbers, date of hire, and work email address and personal email address on file with the Employer.

- 5) The home addresses, phone numbers, email addresses, dates of birth, and negotiation units and groupings of employees, and the emails or other communications between CWA Local 1014 and their members, and non-members, are not government records and are exempt from any disclosure requirements of P.L. 1963, c. 73 (C.47:1A-1 et seq.).
- 6) CWA Local 1014 shall have the right to use the email systems of the County to communicate with negotiations unit members regarding collective negotiations, the administration of collective negotiation agreements, the investigation of grievances, other work-place related complaints and issues, and internal union matters involving the governance or business of the Union.
- 7) CWA Local 1014 shall have the right to use government buildings and other facilities that are owned or leased by the County to conduct meetings with their unit members regarding collective negotiations, the administration of collective negotiations agreements, the investigation of grievances, other workplace-related complaints and issues, and internal union matters involving the governance or business of the union, provided such use does not interfere with County operations. Meetings conducted in County buildings pursuant to this section shall not be for the purpose of supporting or opposing any candidate for partisan political office, or for the purpose of distributing literature or information regarding partisan elections. CWA Local 1014 conducting a meeting in a County building or facility pursuant to this section may be charged for maintenance, security and other costs related to the use of the building or facility that would not otherwise be incurred by the County.

# ARTICLE III - WORK SCHEDULES

- A) The regularly scheduled work week shall consist of thirty (30) through forty-eight (48) hours per week as noted elsewhere in this Agreement. A modified work schedule shall be available to all employees as mutually agreed to by the affected employee, the employer and the Union.
- B) The regular starting time for the work shifts will not be changed without one (1) week written notice, except in case of emergency, to the affected employee and without first having discussed the need for such changes with the Union.

C)

- 1) Where the nature of the work involved requires continuous operations on a twenty-four (24) hour per day, seven (7) days per week basis, employees so assigned will have their schedules arranged on the shift assigned in a manner which will assure, on a rotation basis, that all employees will have an equal share of Saturdays and Sundays off, distributed evenly throughout the year insofar as practicable with a minimum of every other scheduled weekend off as long as the employee is assigned to a twelve (12) hour shift schedule.
- 2) Employees in continuous operations at the Communications Center and Youth Center shall be allowed to substitute for other employees in the same classification, over two consecutive pay periods, in accordance with 29 CFR 553.31-Substitution-section 7(p)(3). The hours worked during this substitution shall be excluded from the calculation of the hours for which the substituting employee would otherwise be entitled to overtime compensation. Where one employee substitutes for another, each employee will be paid as if he or she had worked his or her normal work schedule for that shift. The County shall not be required to keep a record of the hours of the substitute work for the purpose of

payroll timekeeping. Employees failing to report to an exchanged shift shall be subject to the same disciplinary penalties as if the employee was assigned to the exchanged shift. Additionally, employees may be disciplined for repeated abuse which results in disruption to the operation.

- D) For 24-hour operations only, if any employee's work schedule is changed, all time off of three consecutive days or more, which was pre-approved at the time of the change will be honored, with the exception of time off requests or two consecutive days shall be honored during an employee's short week. In addition, if there is a mandatory change in an employee's work schedule after April 1 in any year, the affected employee may use his/her accumulated vacation, personal or compensatory time to maintain as days off their former regular days off which were contiguous to the previously approved vacation time.
- E) Where more than one work shift per day within a given classification exists, employees will be given preference of shifts in accordance with their seniority. Such preference will be exercised only when vacancies occur or when for other reasons changes in the number of employees per shift are being made. In no instance, however, will a senior employee be required to wait longer than one (1) year in order to exercise his or her preference of shift over a less senior employee but such preference may only be exercised once within any twelve (12) month period and may not result in a less senior employee incurring a shift change more than once within any twelve (12) month period.
- F) All employees covered by the Agreement shall receive a salary predicated on the appropriate hourly rate for their title multiplied by the actual number of hours that comprise their scheduled work week.
- G) Continuous operations employees at the Camden County Youth Center and Public Safety Telecommunicators who are employed at the Camden County Communications Center covered by this Agreement shall work a twelve (12) hour shift and the daily benefits of such employees such as vacations, sick days, etc., shall accordingly reflect this length of shift unless otherwise modified in this Agreement.
  - For example, a twelve (12) hour shift employee will receive two (2) sick days for each three (3) received by an eight (8) hour shift employee. However, with respect to discipline, a day shall be considered eight (8) hours. The County may discontinue the aforementioned twelve (12) hour shift.
- H) Employees who receive an unpaid lunch may elect with the agreement of the employee, the employer and the Union to have either a one hour or a one-half hour lunch period. Such election shall remain in effect for a minimum of six months.
- I) Employees who work sixteen (16) or more consecutive hours shall be given at least an eight (8) hour break before being required to report back to work. If an employee has worked sixteen (16) or more consecutive hours and is scheduled to return to work with less than an eight-hour break in between, the employee may, upon notice to the employer at the end of his/her last shift, delay returning to work for up to two (2) hours by charging his/her compensatory time. If the employee does not have compensatory time, he/she may charge vacation or personal time, or if the employee has no such time, then the employee may use sick time or as a last

resort be in no pay status. In the alternative, employees who work sixteen (16) or more consecutive hours and are scheduled to return to work on the next shift after an eight-hour break, will be permitted to work twelve (12) hours, from either 9 am to 9 pm, or 9 pm to 9 am as applicable, on the next shift. This provision shall not apply when employees are working in excess of their regular hours of duty because of weather conditions, a state of emergency declared by the President, Governor or Freeholder Director/OEM Coordinator, riotous conditions or in the field communications unit.

- J) Continuous shift operations employees at the Youth Center who work sixteen (16) consecutive hours shall be given at least a seven hour and forty-five-minute break before being required to report back to work. If an employee has worked sixteen (16) consecutive hours and is scheduled to return to work with less than a seven hour and forty-five minute break in between, the employee may, upon notice to the employer at the end of his/her last shift, delay returning to work for up to four (4) hours by charging his/her compensatory time. If the employee does not have compensatory time, he/she may charge vacation or personal time, or if the employee has no such time, then the employee may use sick time or as a last resort be in no pay status. This provision shall not apply when employees are working in excess of their regular hours of duty because of weather conditions or riotous conditions.
- K) The Communications Center shall make every effort to reassign Public Safety Telecommunicators and the Youth Center shall make every effort to reassign JDOs to new platoons only at the time of the annual platoon change to be performed in January and February of each year with the express understanding that the Employer can make such changes at any time that it deems necessary.

# ARTICLE IV - OVERTIME

- A) Overtime refers to any time worked beyond the regular hours of duty and is granted only when an employee is authorized by the Employer to work. Employees who violate this section will be subject to Article XXVIII, paragraph A.
- B) Time and one-half the employee's rate of pay shall be paid for work under any of the following conditions:
  - 1) All worked performed in excess of forty (40) hours in a work week for work that has been authorized by the Employer.
  - 2) All work performed when an employee is required by the County to work beyond his/her regularly shift. This shall not apply to any situation where the employee volunteers to work time authorized beyond his/her regular shift.
  - 3) For the roll-call period prior to the start of their shift for continuous shift employees at the Youth Center.
- C) Paid leave, with the exception of compensatory time leave and paid holidays shall not be considered time worked for the purpose of determining when time and one-half the employee's rate of pay shall be paid.
- D) Those employees whose regularly scheduled shift of duties requires them to work on a holiday shall receive time and one-half pay for the hours worked on that holiday, in addition to the

holiday pay. Other employees who are required to work on a holiday shall receive time and one-half pay for the hours worked on that holiday in addition to a day's pay for the holiday as such.

Juvenile Detention Officers, Public Safety Telecommunicators, Senior Juvenile Detention Officers and Senior Public Safety Telecommunicators shall receive only straight time pay for regularly scheduled hours on holidays.

- E) Continuous shift operation employees working 12-hour shifts shall be paid time and one-half the full time employee's rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of their regularly scheduled shift, and time and one-half of their regular rate of pay or have the option of taking compensatory time at time and one-half their regular rate of pay in lieu of cash payment for all regularly scheduled hours beyond the 40 hours in each week's payroll pay period schedule. For purposes of this section, it is understood that the "payroll pay period" is adjusted, such that each employee will be regularly scheduled to work 42 hours each payroll pay period, with those additional 2 hours each week and any other additional hours during that weekly payroll pay period being paid at time and one half the employee's regular rate of pay. This section shall be subject to the requirements of Section C and Section D in this Article.
- F) Double time the full-time employee's regular hourly rate of pay shall be paid for work in excess of two (2) consecutive regular shifts or for shift work in excess of sixteen (16) consecutive hours in a 24-hour operation.
- G) Employees shall have the option of taking compensatory time in lieu of cash payment for overtime. If an employee chooses compensatory time in any instance, the amount of such time will be computed on the basis as set forth above. Compensatory time off must be scheduled and approved by the Department Head. Effective January 1, 2022 all compensatory time must be used by the end of the calendar year in which it is earned, unless the time is earned in the months of November and December, which must be used by March 31st of the following year. Failure to do so will result in assignment of such time by the County or payment as determined by the employee. Requests for the use of comp time shall not be unreasonably denied. This shall not include time accumulated before the signing of the Agreement.
- H) Overtime work shall be distributed as equally as possible among employees within the same classification. Employees may be required to work a reasonable amount of overtime. An employee may be excused from an overtime assignment provided he has presented a valid excuse which has been approved by the Department Head. However, the Department Head may require the employee with the least seniority to work an overtime assignment.
- I) Overtime shall be paid currently, or at least no later than the second pay period after overtime was served, if funds are available and if overtime pay has been agreed upon.
- J) If overtime appears excessive in any department, division, agency or work area, the County and the Union will jointly conduct a cost benefit analysis and make recommendations to the County Administrator to address the issue.
- K) With the exception of employees working at the Communications Center, and as noted below for Buildings & Operations, Courthouse Division workers during snow emergencies, voluntary overtime shall be distributed by classification and seniority from the most senior on a rotating basis beginning with the employee immediately following the last senior employee who

worked. Mandatory overtime shall be distributed by classification and seniority from the least senior on a rotating basis beginning with the next senior employee immediately following the last employee who worked.

In Communications all voluntary and mandatory overtime shall be distributed on a rotation based upon separately maintained alphabetical lists. At the Communications Center the practice of calling the first available personnel to fill vacancies where the need for overtime was not known prior to the beginning of the shift may be continued.

In the Buildings & Operations, Courthouse Division, overtime resulting from snow emergencies will be divided as equally as possible among Building Maintenance Workers and craft employees, i.e., one Building Maintenance Worker will be called for each craft employee called following the seniority lists, provided the employees working the overtime are capable of performing the duties required, including the safe operation of any equipment required. Only Building Maintenance Workers will be called for "Code Blue" (emergency cold weather shelter operations in the County Administration Building) overtime.

L) At the discretion of the County, the County may close County facilities due to weather related emergencies. Non-Essential employees who are not required to work shall be granted the day off with pay and are not entitled to any additional leave time. All Public Safety Telecommunicators (PSTs), Juvenile Detention Officers (JDOs), and Police Aides (PAs), as well as administrative personnel in those departments, who are designated in advance by their department to be essential employees, shall receive one additional vacation day, per calendar year, starting in 2014, for being obligated to work in weather-related emergencies, in addition to their regular pay for all hours worked on those days. The hours of this weather/vacation day will be based upon the hours of the shift that each employee is regularly assigned to work. This weather/vacation day is not cumulative. This additional day is granted and encompasses weather-related emergencies regardless of the number of such days, if any, per calendar year. There shall be no restrictions on the use of this day, other than the contractual restrictions on the use of vacation time. All other essential County employees assigned to work in non-24/7 operations, who are required to work in weather-related emergencies on those days when nonessential employees are given the day off with pay, shall receive one personal day for each such day worked, in addition to being paid in accordance with the County's regular payroll practices for all hours worked on that day. This personal day shall have no cash value. There shall be no restrictions on the use of this day, other than for scheduling purposes, this day shall be treated as if it is a vacation day and scheduled accordingly.

Any JDOs who are required to be on-call which currently includes JDOs in the transportation and electronic management unit, shall be paid an additional \$.40 for each on-call hour and \$.45 paid to senior JDOs.

#### ARTICLE V – CALL IN TIME

If an employee is recalled to duty, the employee shall be paid for travel time plus time worked at time and one-half the employee's regular rate of pay starting from the time the employee receives the call and ending when the employee returns to his starting location. This provision does not apply to recall duty immediately prior to or immediately after an employee's normal shift.

#### ARTICLE VI - RATES OF PAY

- A) The pay scales for all employees covered by this Agreement shall be as set forth in Appendix B and C. The County and the Union shall negotiate the salary for any title for which a salary has not been previously negotiated. New or additional employees hired during the term of this contract shall be governed by the pay scale as set forth in Appendix C. The lowest rate being paid in a classification shall be the hiring rate.
- B) Rates of compensation provided for in these regulations are fixed on the basis of full-time service in a full-time position. If any position is, by action of the Board, established on a basis of less than full-time service, or if, with the approval of the Board, the incumbent of any full-time position is accepted for employment on a part-time basis only, the rate of compensation provided for the position (unless otherwise stated) shall be proportionately reduced in computing the rate of compensation payable for part-time service.
- C) When an employee changes title, then his or her salary shall be adjusted to receive the same salary classification as the employee had in the former title. This provision shall be applicable to all changes in title within the County of Camden irrespective of whether the former title was covered by this Agreement. An employee changing titles after the signing of this Agreement whose former title was not subject to the same salary classification/step procedure contained in this Agreement, shall be placed in the salary classification/step which credits the employee with all years of service with the County and as if the employee had received a "satisfactory" evaluation each year.
- D) An employee who is required to work in a higher paid classification than his own shall be certified for such work after he has performed said work for two (2) consecutive weeks, or for more than three (3) separate five (5) consecutive day periods during a calendar year, spending at least fifty percent (50%) of his time in activities under the higher paid job. Employees undergoing on-the-job training will not be considered as performing work in a higher paid classification. Such on-the-job-training will not exceed twelve (12) consecutive weeks. Any employee undergoing on-the-job training will be paid at the rate of his own classification.
- E) Those employees who, as a requisite of employment, are required by the County to wear specified uniforms (as opposed to conforming to a specified reasonable dress code) shall either be furnished those uniforms or receive a uniform allowance as set forth below.
  - Uniform allowances shall be pro-rated based upon the actual numbers of weeks on active pay status. The County will keep a record of the title or persons required to wear uniforms and will furnish a list to the Local 1014 President annually upon request. At the County's option, the County may provide uniforms and the maintenance thereof. If such option is exercised, the uniform maintenance allowances of this Section shall not be applicable.
  - 1) Employees required to wear uniforms which are not supplied by the County shall be granted a uniform allowance of \$325 per year except that employees working at the Youth Center and/or the Communications Center shall receive a uniform allowance of \$700 per year.
  - 2) Employees required to wear tailored uniforms which are furnished by the County shall receive three hundred and fifty dollars (\$350) per year.
  - 3) Employees required to wear work shoes not supplied by the County shall receive one hundred and fifty dollars (\$150) per year.

- 4) Those employees who are required by the County to wear specified uniforms (as opposed to conforming to a specified reasonable dress code) shall be furnished those uniforms, except that Juvenile Detention Officers, Senior Juvenile Detention Officers and Police Aides shall receive an annual \$475 voucher for the purchase of uniforms. Juvenile Detention Officers and Senior Juvenile Detention Officers employed at the time of the signing of this Agreement shall receive a one-time issue of a uniform jacket consistent with the jacket currently permitted for wear on the job by the Youth Center. Such jacket shall be issued within 90 days of the signing of this Agreement.
- F) Employees covered under this Agreement will receive pay changes or increases as follows:
  - 1) Effective the first pay period of 2019, pay rates for all titles and steps be increased by 2%
  - 2) Effective the first pay period of 2020, pay rates for all titles and steps be increased by 2%
  - 3) Effective the first pay period of 2021, pay rates for all titles and steps be increased by 2.25%
  - 4) Effective the first pay period of 2022, pay rates for all titles and steps be increased by 2.25%
  - 5) Effective the first pay period of 2023, pay rates for all titles and steps be increased by 2.5%

6)

- All salary increases shall be retroactive to the first pay period of 2019. Retroactive payments will be paid as soon as is reasonably practical. The County shall make every reasonable effort to make retroactive payments on or before the fourth pay date after the the last party has signed this Agreement.
- G) Employees holding a title permanently, or provisionally for two years or more, who are laid off by the County and later recalled within seven years will receive the same salary classification as they had immediately prior to layoff, and irrespective of whether the former title was covered by the Agreement.
- H) All employees hired prior to October 27, 2010 shall remain subject to the step and salary classification system in this Article. All employees hired after October 27, 2010 will no longer be eligible for step increases pursuant to this Article. The hiring rates are increased by all negotiated raises. Any employee hired after the signing of this Agreement must be paid initially at the hiring rate and thereafter shall be eligible for all such negotiated increases.
- I) Whenever an employee's wages are increased as a result of an increase in hours, such increases shall be implemented immediately on the effective date of the increase.
- J) All titles which are designated "bilingual" shall be paid a minimum of \$500 more per year at the top step of the salary step procedure than the same title without the bilingual designation. Where a bilingual title exists but is vacant and the salary for that title is more than \$500 higher at the top step of the salary step procedure than the same title without the bilingual designation, the salary for the bilingual title shall be reduced so as to establish the \$500 differential at the top step of the salary step procedure. The hire rate after the signing of this agreement in newly established bilingual titles shall be a minimum of \$422.83 more than hire rate in the same title without the bilingual designation.

- K) Any shift employee working in a 24 hour operation at the Communications Center or the Youth Center who works as an acting Officer In Charge (AOIC) shall receive an annual \$1,750 stipend. PSTs who are designated as AOIC either as Lieutenant, or a Lieutenant to act as a Watch Commander are entitled to the stipend. JDOs who work as the AOIC are entitled to the stipend. There should be no other gross pay adjustments.
- L) Any PST working at the Communications Center who is a certified Communications Training Officer shall receive a \$750 stipend annually. The selection of future Communications Training Officers shall be at the discretion of management. Any employee working in 24-hour operations who possesses the appropriate certificates to function as a call taker and dispatch both police and fire/ambulance shall receive a five hundred-dollar (\$500) stipend annually, to be deleted at the time of the signing of this Agreement.
- M) Any Public Safety Telecommunicator (PST) working at the Communications Center who is assigned by management to work in the Training Office shall receive a \$5,000 annual stipend. The selection of the PST's assigned to training (and the number thereof) shall be at the sole discretion of management. Selected PST's will be paid for only the time they actually serve in this assigned Training Office position. Selected PST's assigned to the Training Office for only a portion of a calendar year will paid a prorated stipend based on the number of weeks assigned to the office. This stipend will be paid on or around pay period #26 of each year.
- N) Only Public Safety Telecommunicators and Juvenile Detention Officers on the County payroll at the time of the signing of the contract shall receive a one-time base salary increase equal to \$4,770 per year effective with the signing of the contract in lieu of pay for holidays. Senior Public Safety Telecommunicators and Senior Juvenile Detention Officers on the County payroll at the time of the signing of the contract shall receive a one-time base salary increase equal to \$5,450 per year effective with the signing of the contract in lieu of pay for holidays. Public Safety Telecommunicators and Juvenile Detention Officers on the County payroll at the time of the signing of the contract, and subsequently promoted to Senior Public Safety Telecommunicator or Senior Juvenile Detention Officer, shall, upon promotion, receive an increase equal to the difference between their then current rate and the increases received by Senior Public Safety Telecommunicators and Senior Juvenile Detention Officers, as adjusted by subsequent increases in base rates of pay.
- O) All senior JDOs shall be paid at least \$1,000 more than the highest paid JDO in the bargaining unit, and shall have their salaries adjusted accordingly.

## ARTICLE VII – INSURANCE

# A) HEALTH BENEFITS

1) Subject to the employee premium sharing schedule detailed below, the County shall provide the health and prescription benefits through all of the plans offered by the New Jersey State Health Benefit Program (NJSHBP) or substantially similar plans and benefits for employees working 25 hours or more per week for medical and prescription drug benefits. Local 1014 and County agree to be bound by the requirements and terms of the NJSHBP and the New Jersey State Health Benefits Commission.

# B) PREMIUM CONTRIBUTION

- 1) Pursuant to P.L. 2011, c. 78, effective June 28, 2011, the amount of contribution to be paid by an active employee for medical and prescription drug benefits for the employee and any eligible dependent shall be in accordance with the contribution schedule set forth in P.L. 2011, c.78.
- Base salary shall be used to determine what an employee earns for the purposes of this
  provision.
- 3) As used in this Section, "cost of coverage" means the premium or periodic charges for health care and prescription benefits, provided pursuant to N.J.S.A. 40A:10-16 et seq., or any other law, charged by Camden County.
- 4) Employees hired and employed on June 28, 2011 or thereafter shall pay the "Year Four" contribution set forth in P.L. 2011, c. 78, upon employment.
- 5) Employee contributions shall be made by way of pre-tax withholding of the contribution from the employee's pay, salary, or other compensation. Employees who waive coverage shall not be subject to contribution withholdings. Withholdings shall be made by way of twenty-four (24) equal payroll deductions in a calendar year, to the extent possible, in accordance with the County's customary payroll practices unless otherwise required by law.
- 6) The required premium contribution paid by any employee under this Article shall not under any circumstance be less than 1.5 per cent of base salary. An employee who pays the contribution required in P.L. 2011, c. 78, shall not also be required to pay the contribution of 1.5 per cent of base salary.
- 7) Upon completion of the four (4) year schedule of payments pursuant to the provisions of P.L. 2011, c. 78, the statutory rates of contributions towards the cost of health insurance shall remain in effect subject to collective negotiations between the parties.

# C) CO-PAYMENTS

- 1. Effective September 1, 2012, prescription co-payments shall be consistent with the rates set forth in the plans offered by the New Jersey State Health Benefit Program or a substantially similar plan.
- 2. Effective September 1, 2012, employees shall be subject to all dollar co-payment requirements as set forth in the plans offered by the New Jersey State Health Benefit Program or a substantially similar plan.

## D) DEPENDENT COVERAGE

1) Coverage for eligible dependents shall be included in all health and prescription plans for eligible employees.

- 2) The County shall make dependent coverage in the County's Medical and Prescription Drug Plans as set forth in this Article available for an adult child until the child turns 26 years of age in accordance with Section 2714 of the federal Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act. Student status is not required. Coverage will terminate at the end of the year in which the child turns 26 years of age, subject to the right to elect continued coverage until age 31, pursuant to P.L. 2005, Chapter 375, as set forth below.
- 3) Subject to the provisions and requirements of P.L. 2005, Chapter 375, employees who are enrolled through any County Medical or Prescription Drug Plan may elect to enroll their dependent to age 31 for an additional premium which shall be billed directly to the employee by the insurance carrier. These provisions shall be subject to any requirements mandated by federal law and conform to the patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and regulations promulgated thereunder. Dependents that are permanently disabled will remain covered during the life of the employee.
- 4) "Civil union partners" and "domestic partners" of the same gender under New Jersey law shall be considered as dependents eligible for insurance benefits.

# E) RETIREE BENEFITS

Subject to the requirements of this Article, the County shall provide to retirees and their eligible dependents, medical and prescription benefits as set forth in the "Health Benefits" Section of this Article.

- 1) Any employee with twenty (20) or more years of creditable service in one or more State administered retirement system as of June 28, 2011 and who subsequently retires after the signing of this contract with twenty-five (25) or more years of service with Camden County and/or affiliated organizations and twenty-five (25) or more years of service credit in a state administered retirement system shall contribute 1.5% of the retiree's monthly retirement allowance, including any future cost of living adjustments.
- 2) Any employee with less than twenty (20) years of service of creditable service in one or more State administered retirement system as of June 28, 2011 and who subsequently retires after the signing of the contract with twenty-five (25) or more years of service with Camden County and/or affiliated organizations and twenty-five (25) or more years of service credit in a state administered retirement system shall contribute the amount determined in accordance with P.L. 2011, Chapter 78, including any future cost-of-living adjustments.
- 3) Current employees retiring at age 62 or older, and who have at least fifteen (15) years of service with Camden County and/or affiliated organizations, or twenty-five (25) or more years of service credit with Camden County and/or affiliated organizations, or current employees retiring on an ordinary disability pension after the signing of the contract, shall receive health and prescription benefits subject to the following percentage of premium contributions:

Years with the County	Percentage of Premium
10 years through 14 years (for Ordinary Disability Retirement only)	30%
15 years up to 19 years	25%
20 years up to 24 years	15%
25 years or more	Amount determined in accordance with P.L. 2011, Chapter 78

However, employees who had at least 20 years of service as of June 28, 2011 and retire with 25 or more years of service are grandfathered at 1.5% of their monthly pension allowance.

4) Prior years of employment with Camden County and/or affiliated organizations, as indicated below, shall count as "Years with the County" for the purpose of determining the appropriate premium contribution as set forth above.

Camden County Row Office

Camden County Mosquito Commission

Camden County Superintendent of Schools

Camden County Library System

Camden County Prosecutor's Office

Camden County Municipal Utilities Authority

Camden County Improvement Authority

Camden County Pollution Control Authority

Camden County Board of Elections

Camden County Superintendent of Elections

Camden County Health Services Center

Camden County College

- 5) Employees who retire shall pay the medical and prescription co-payments/deductibles as offered by the NJSHBP or substantially similar plans until they enroll in a Medicare plan, at which time these payments shall be determined by the Medicare plan selected.
- 6) Retirees 65 or older who are eligible for Medicare shall pay the percentage of premium contribution in accordance with the above and the amount of the health and prescription drug co-payments applicable to Medicare eligible retirees in the plan in which they are enrolled.
- 7) Retirees are required to submit annual verification to the County of the amount of their monthly retirement allowance in a form and from a source acceptable to the County at the time of the County's open enrollment period for healthcare benefits. Failure to do so in any given year may subject the employee to a contribution payment of twenty-five (25%) percent of the cost of coverage for the plans available to and selected by the employee for that year after notice and a reasonable opportunity to correct the problem.

- 8) The amount payable by a retiree who is required to make a contribution under this subsection shall not under any circumstance be less than the 1.5 percent of the monthly retirement allowance, including any future cost of living adjustments thereto, that is provided for such a retiree, if applicable to that retiree, under subsection b. of N.J.S.A. 40A:10-23. A retiree who pays the contribution required under this subsection shall not also be required to pay the contribution of 1.5 percent of the monthly retirement allowance under subsection b. of N.J.S.A. 40A:10-23.
- 9) All retirees and eligible dependents of retirees, age sixty-five (65), or in receipt of Social Security Disability benefits for at least 24 months who are receiving benefits through Camden County are required to enroll in Medicare Parts A & B within three months of becoming eligible for Medicare. The County shall reimburse the retiree the cost of said enrollment into Medicare Part B. The retiree must remain on the County plan for secondary coverage. Employees retiring after December 31, 2018 (last day of active service) shall not be eligible for reimbursement of Medicare premiums by the County.

# F) WAIVER OF COVERAGE

- 1) Eligible employees covered by this Agreement may choose, in writing, to waive insurance coverage. Participation in is voluntary and is intended for those eligible employees who are covered by health insurance through another source. Employees who hold elective office and are receiving health insurance benefits as a result of their elected office and employees who are receiving health insurance benefits as a result of their retirement or the retirement of their spouse or domestic/civil union partner from another public entity in New Jersey are not eligible for waiver payments. Waiver as described in this section shall be subject to the rules of the New Jersey State Health Benefit Plan where applicable.
- 2) If two employees are married or qualify as domestic partners/civil union partners and one of them receives health insurance coverage from Camden County or any other New Jersey State Health Benefits Program, the other may not participate. Additionally, in the event that Camden County is no longer in the New Jersey State Health Benefits Plan, then the limitations set forth herein shall apply to married, or domestic partners/civil union partners from the following related agencies:

Camden County Row Office

Camden County Mosquito Commission

Camden County Superintendent of Schools

Camden County Library System

Camden County Prosecutor's Office

Camden County Municipal Utilities Authority

Camden County Improvement Authority

Camden County Pollution Control Authority

Camden County Board of Elections

Camden County Superintendent of Elections

Camden County Health Services Center

Camden County College

- 3) If two employees are married or qualify as domestic partners/civil union partners, they may be covered individually as an employee or as a dependent under his or her spouse's/partner's New Jersey State Health Benefits Plan or County plan, as set forth in Section 2, but not both. Dependent children must be covered under one plan only.
- 4) If an employee chooses to participate and drops coverage, the employee shall receive a monetary incentive as outlined below. Waiver payments shall not be available to employees that have an opportunity for alternate coverage through another New Jersey State Health Benefits Plan member.
- 5) An employee shall receive an incentive which shall not exceed twenty-five (25%) per cent of the amount saved by Camden County because of the waiver or \$5,000 annually, whichever is less, in accordance with State law. Effective January 1, 2022, an employee shall receive an incentive not to exceed 25% of the amount saved by Camden County because of the waiver, up to a maximum of \$3,000 annually. This incentive payment shall be limited to those current active employees who are enrolled in the program as of the execution of this agreement and shall not be available to any other active employee not currently enrolled or who is hired by the County in the future after execution of this Agreement. Nothing herein makes any change to existing waiver payments for anyone who retired before January 1, 2022. Anyone retiring after January 1, 2022 who is receiving a waiver payment as an active employee on or after January 1, 2022, shall be subject to the above change during retirement.
- 6) Eligible employees who waive coverage must do so for a minimum of one (1) year at a time unless there is a change of life event. However, if an eligible employee chooses to participate and then the spouse's/partner's benefits are terminated (not voluntarily dropped), the employee and his/her dependents may enroll in any of the available plans upon proper verification of termination. Applications must be made within thirty (30) days after the loss of coverage. Eligible employees shall be permitted to waive either medical coverage or prescription coverage or both, subject to the limitations of the New Jersey State Health Benefits Plan where applicable
- 7) The incentive payments provided shall be paid in equal monthly payments and appropriate deductions shall be made from the gross incentive amount.
- 8) The incentive shall begin to be paid to the eligible employee no later than one month after the effective date of the option.
- 9) Annual re-enrollment is required for retirees.
- 10) Employees on non-paid leaves do not receive Opt Out payments.

#### G) MISCELLANEOUS

1) The County will provide each employee with short-term disability coverage through the State of New Jersey Disability Plan.

- 2) Employees shall be responsible for extra costs incurred by the County if there is a change in an employee's life status (divorce, death of spouse, etc.) which would affect his or her health and prescription benefits and the employee does not report it to the County Insurance Division within 60 days of the event.
- 3) The County shall continue to maintain a Section 125 Plan as required by Section 45 of P.L. 2011, chapter 78 and including dependent care coverage which will permit the payment of certain employee contributions in pre-tax dollars. Pre-tax payroll deductions shall be made equally over 24 pay periods of each calendar year in accordance with the County's customary payroll practices unless otherwise required by law.
- 4) The parties agree and acknowledge that any increases to employee or retirement contributions or co-payments as the result of changes in this Article shall be prospective only.
- 5) The County will pay or cause to be paid to the CWA Local 1014 Health and Welfare Fund the sum of \$450 per year, , effective January 1, 2021, paid in monthly installments, for each bargaining unit member or for whom the representative is the bargaining agent.

#### ARTICLE VIII – SICK LEAVE WITH PAY

- A) Sick leave may be used by employees who are unable to work because of personal illness or injury; exposure to contagious disease; care, for a reasonable period of time, of a seriously ill member of the employee's immediate family; death in the employee's immediate family, for a reasonable period of time, or for any of the reasons set forth in the New Jersey Earned Sick Leave Law, a copy of the relevant provisions attached to this Agreement as Appendix D.
- B) The term "immediate family" is hereby defined to include the following: mother, father, mother-in-law, father-in-law, brother, sister, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, spouse, child, stepchild, grandchild, grandmother, grandfather, foster child, legal ward, legal guardian, civil union partner and domestic partner and other relatives residing in the employee's household, or any family member defined in the New Jersey Earned Sick Leave Law.
- C) Any shift employee who is absent for reasons that entitle him to sick leave shall notify his supervisor promptly, but not later than one and one half (1½) hours before the employee's usual reporting time except in cases of extreme emergency where the employee is not able to do so. Other employees will provide the notification within sixty (60) minutes of their scheduled starting time. Failure to give such notice may be cause of denial of the use of sick leave for that absence and may constitute cause for disciplinary action.
- D) Sick leave shall accrue for regular full-time employees at the rate of one (1) day per month during the first calendar year of employment and one and one-quarter (1 ¼) days per month per year in every calendar year of employment thereafter and shall accumulate from year to year. Part-time permanent employees shall be entitled to sick leave on a pro-rated basis. Sick leave must be earned before being taken.
- E) If any employee is absent for five (5) consecutive work days (or after fifteen (15) days sick leave in any one (1) year for any reason set forth in the above rule), the County may require acceptable evidence on the form prescribed. The nature of the illness and length of time the employee was absent shall be stated on a doctor's certificate.

- F) At the discretion of the Department Head, the employee seeking sick leave for personal illness or injury may be required to submit medical evidence to substantiate his/her request so long as the employee is advised in advance of the requirement. Failure to provide adequate medical evidence may result in the denial of sick leave benefits, and the employee will suffer a loss of his pay for any authorized time period. In the event the employee has exhausted his accumulated sick leave and is sick, the absence may be charged to the employee's vacation, if any, provided that the employee agrees and further provided that such use of vacation time will not be used to circumvent either the provisions or the intent of Article XXI, Strikes and Lockouts.
- G) Abuse of sick leave will be cause for disciplinary action.
- H) Sick leave claimed by reason of quarantine or exposure to contagious disease may be approved upon the certification of the local Public Health Department.
- I) Full-time temporary employees in the County service shall be entitled to sick leave in the same amount and for the same reasons as provided for permanent employees.
- J) A requirement to submit medical evidence to substantiate a request shall be reviewed every six months.

#### ARTICLE IX – MILITARY LEAVE

A permanent employee who enters upon active duty in the United States Military Service in time of war or emergency or who is actively engaged in Reserve or National Guard duty will be granted a leave of absence in accordance with law.

#### ARTICLE X - JURY DUTY

- A) Employees shall be given time off without loss of pay when performing Jury Duty in the following circumstances:
  - 1) In State Court, the employee shall serve without loss of pay and is allowed to retain any stipend for services.
  - 2) In Federal Court, the employee shall receive full pay plus a maximum stipend of five (\$5.00) dollars paid by the Federal Court. All monies received by the employee in excess of five (\$5.00) dollars paid by the Federal Court in services as a Federal Juror shall be returned to the County Treasurer's office.
- B) Employees assigned to the second or evening shift shall be given their shift off without loss of pay when performing jury duty. Employees assigned to the 7 pm to 7 am shift shall receive the shift off which precedes their jury duty unless the employee is scheduled off for that shift in which case the employee will receive the succeeding shift off.

#### ARTICLE XI - COURT TIME

- A) Employees shall be given time off without loss of pay when commanded to appear as a witness and not a party before a court, legislative committee, or judicial or quasi-judicial body.
- B) The provisions of Section A above shall not apply for appearances by an employee in connection with any activities noted in Article XXI.

C) Employees assigned to the 7 pm to 7 am shift shall receive the shift off which precedes their court appearance unless the employee is scheduled off for that shift in which case the employee will receive the succeeding shift off.

#### ARTICLE XII -- EMERGENCY LEAVE

Employees shall be given time without loss of pay when performing civilian duty in relation to national defense or other emergency when so ordered by the Governor of the State of New Jersey or the President of the United States.

#### ARTICLE XIII – BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

- A) In the event of the death of an employee's mother, father, spouse, child, foster child, civil union partner or domestic partner, stepchild or step parent the employee shall be granted five (5) days off without loss of pay, one of which shall be the day of death or day of the funeral. Bereavement leave must be used within fourteen (14) calendar days of death.
- B) In the event of the death of an employee's mother-in-law, father-in-law, grandmother, grandfather, grandchild, brother, sister or step-sibling the employee shall be granted three (3) days off without loss of pay, one of which shall be the day of death or the day of the funeral. Bereavement leave must be used within fourteen (14) calendar days of death.
- C) In the event of the death of an employee's brother-in-law or sister-in-law, the employee shall be granted two (2) days off without loss of pay, one of which shall be the day of death or the day of the funeral. Bereavement leave must be used within fourteen (14) calendar days of death.
- D) For employees working twelve hour shifts at the Camden County Communications Center and Camden County Youth Center, a bereavement leave day shall mean twelve (12) hours.
- E) In addition, sick leave may be used for a reasonable amount of additional bereavement leave.

# ARTICLE XIV - MATERNITY LEAVE

Employees on maternity leave shall be granted earned and accumulated sick leave during the time prior to the expected date of confinement and through the period of disability as certified by an acceptable medical provider, in conjunction with any rights the employee may have under the state and federal family medical leave acts.

#### ARTICLE XV – PERSONAL DAYS

- A) All bargaining unit employees shall enjoy four (4) personal days per year for personal, business, household, or family matters described in this Article. Personal days shall be non-accumulative. Employees working in the Surrogate's Office shall receive three (3) such personal days.
- B) Business means an activity that requires the employee's presence during the work-day and is of such a nature that it cannot be attended to at a time outside the work day.
- C) Personal, household, or family refers to matters when the employee's absence from duty is necessary for the welfare of the employee or his family.
- D) Request for a personal day along with the reasons therefore, must be submitted at least three (3) full working days in advance and is subject to approval of the employee's supervisor.

Emergency days may be granted for an unforeseen occurrence which necessitates the presence of the employee and for which the individual had no prior knowledge and is unable to resolve the situation outside the workday. Personal leave will not be granted if it interferes with the manpower needs of the department.

- E) A personal emergency day shall not be granted for a day preceding or following holidays or vacations.
- F) Those employees working a twelve (12) hour shift and who are employed at the Camden County Communications Center shall receive twelve (12) hours for one of the four (4) personal days referred to in Section A of this Article.
- G) Those employees working a twelve (12) hour shift and who are employed at the Camden County Youth Center shall receive twelve (12) hours for the four (4) personal days referred to in Section A of this Article.

## ARTICLE XVI – FRINGE BENEFITS

- A) Each employee shall be entitled to one fifteen (15) minute break for each half-day period of work (morning and afternoon and equivalent periods of shift work). Unused break times shall not be credited or accumulated.
- B) Employees required to travel on authorized, necessary County business and who are required to use their personal vehicle shall be reimbursed at the applicable IRS rate a mile plus out-of-pocket expenses.
- C) Where employees, as a condition of their job, are required to use their vehicles for official County business, said employees will declare such use on their application for automobile liability insurance. Upon presentation by them of an invoice from their insurance carrier evidencing an increased premium for business coverage, the County will pay ten dollars (\$10) to the affected employee on an annual basis.
- D) Employee pension contributions and repayment of loans from the pension program will be deducted in equal payments from the first two (2) salary payments to an employee each month.
- E) An employee who is assigned to work at a location outside Camden County shall be reimbursed at the applicable IRS rate per mile for the distance between the Camden County border and the assigned work location, to be calculated based on the most direct route from the employee's regular Camden County work location and the assigned out- of-County site.
- F) Employees working in areas served by mass transit, including rail, bus, or other commercial transportation licensed for public conveyance shall be eligible to participate in the TransitChek program allowing purchase of public transportation vouchers with pre-tax dollars. Effective with the signing of this contract, those employees participating in a County-facilitated discount parking program shall be eligible to pay for parking with pre-tax dollars.

#### ARTICLE XVII – SENIORITY

A) Seniority is defined as an employee's total length of service with the employer, beginning with his original date of hire. Employees who are laid off by the County and are subsequently reemployed by the County in any capacity within seven years of the effective date of layoff shall receive seniority credit for all time worked for the County prior to layoff with respect to all provisions of this Agreement except, with the signing of this contract, vacation leave. Upon

request to the Division of Human Resources, any employee shall be awarded past service time credit for employment with Camden County and any Camden County affiliated agencies for the purpose of determining the amount of vacation time awarded to accruals each year. Any approved vacation benefit adjustment will be effective on the approval date and will not be retroactive.

- B) An employee having broken service with the employer (as distinguished from leave of absence) shall not accrue seniority credit for the time when he was not employed by the Employer.
- C) For employees with the same total length of service, seniority preference shall be given in alphabetical order of the employee's last name.
- D) The employer shall maintain an accurate, up-to-date seniority roster showing each employee's date of hire, classification, and pay rate and shall furnish copies of same to the Representative upon request.
- E) Except where New Jersey Civil Service statutes require otherwise, in cases where provisional promotions, demotions, lay-offs, recalls, and vacation schedules are concerned, an employee with the greatest amount of seniority shall be given preference provided he has the ability to perform the work involved and further provided that the exercise of such will have no adverse effect on productivity.

#### ARTICLE XVIII - HOLIDAYS

- A) The following National Holidays are recognized as paid holidays when celebrated as holidays: New Year's Day; Martin Luther King Day; Presidents Day; Good Friday; Memorial Day; Fourth of July; Friday before Labor Day; Labor Day; Columbus Day; General Election Day; Veterans' Day; Thanksgiving Day; Friday after Thanksgiving and Christmas Day. Effective June 28, 2015, holidays shall be eliminated for Public Safety Telecommunicators, Senior Public Safety Telecommunicators, Juvenile Detention Officers and Senior Juvenile Detention Officers, on the County payroll as of the signing of the contract, shall receive an adjustment in their rate of pay, in accordance with Article VI Rates of Pay, in lieu of holidays.
- B) It is understood that there shall be only one (1) day of celebration in the event the holidays are celebrated on a day other than the actual day of said holiday, and no additional day shall be received because of the adjustment on the day of celebration.
- C) Holidays which fall on Saturday shall be celebrated on the preceding Friday. Holidays which fall on a Sunday shall be celebrated on the following Monday. This shall not apply to employees working in 24 hours operations at the Communications Center or the Youth Center. When a holiday falls on a Saturday, employees working in the County Store whose work week is Monday through Friday will receive Friday as the holiday. Those who are normally scheduled to work on Saturday will receive Saturday as the holiday. When a holiday falls on a Sunday, employees will receive Monday as the holiday.
- D) When the Board of Commissioners declare by formal action a day off for all County Employees, those who are required to work on such a day off shall be given a compensatory day at a later date. This provision has no applicability when holidays are declared or granted pursuant to a contract with other Representative Associations or Unions. Employees who work

- more than one half the day will receive a whole day as compensatory time. The granting by the Board of Commissioners of a day off or a holiday in addition to those enumerated in Section A shall not be considered as a precedent and is subject to Commissioners approval each and every time such day off or holiday is granted.
- E) If an employee is serving a suspension on a day before or a day after a holiday and as a result is disqualified from receiving holiday pay under this Section, the holiday shall be counted as a day of suspension. If an employee calls out sick the day before or day after a holiday without a documented medical reason, management in its sole discretion may deny holiday pay.
- F) Those employees who are required by law to be off on Lincoln's and Washington's birthdays shall receive those days as paid holidays instead of President's Day and shall be entitled to three (3) personal days under Article XV, Section A except as modified in that Article and Section.

#### ARTICLE XIX - DIFFERENTIAL PAY

1) Effective with the signing of this Agreement, employees working any time from 7p to 7a shall be compensated at an additional rate of 5.5% for all hours worked during that time. If an employee's hours of work overlap such that the employee works after 7p or before 7a, for the convenience of the County, differential pay shall be paid for all hours worked during those times.

#### ARTICLE XX – VACATIONS

- A. Shift employees employed in a 24-hour operation shall be entitled to the following annual vacation with pay based upon prorated vacation entitlement as defined in Article III Section G. if applicable.
  - 1. Up to one year of service, one (1) working days' vacation for each month of service.
  - 2. After one year and up to ten years of service, twelve (12) working days' vacation.
  - 3. After ten years and up to twenty years of service, eighteen (18) working days' vacation.
  - 4. After twenty years of service, twenty-five (25) working days' vacation.
  - 1) In order to exercise seniority for the calendar year, vacation requests must be submitted by the employee between January 1 and January 15, except at the Youth Center, when such requests must be submitted between December 1 and December 15. Failure to submit such a request during that time period shall result in a loss of seniority preference for the employee. Requests received after January 15 will be granted on a first-come-first-served basis.
  - 2) Notwithstanding the above, employees in the operations unit of the Communications Center shall be required to submit vacation requests by April 1<sup>st</sup>, in order to exercise seniority for April 1 of that year through March 31 of the following year. Failure to submit such a request by April 1st will result in a loss of seniority preference for the employee. Requests received after April 1 will be granted on a first-come-first-served basis.

- 3) All Juvenile Detention Officers and Public Safety Telecommunicators (PSTs) shall be able to request the use of vacation and compensatory leave within four days notice.
- B) The scheduling of all vacations is subject to approval of the employee's Department Head. For vacations of one (1) week or longer the Department Head will advise the employee of the approval or disapproval of the requested vacation time. Employees shall receive a response to all vacation requests within 48 hours, except when the request is for two days or less and is submitted two days or less in advance of the date requested, in which case the response shall be provided without unreasonable delay and in advance of the date(s) requested. The scheduling of all vacations is subject to approval of the employee's Department Head.
- C) Employees shall be allowed to use vacation time not accrued, in anticipation of continued employment provided that such time is scheduled time with the approval of the Department Head.
- D) If an employee dies having vacation credits, a sum of money equal to the compensation figured on his salary rate at the time of death shall be calculated and paid to his estate.
- E) Vacation time cannot be used for sick time without the express written consent of the employee, except that, effective with the signing of the contract, the County may require the use of up to half of an employee's accrued but unused vacation leave when an employee's absence is covered by family leave and the employee has used all accrued sick leave.
- F) Where in a calendar year, the vacation leave or any part thereof is not used, such vacation periods shall accumulate and any unused vacation resulting from the pressure of work as determined by the County may be carried forward into the next succeeding year only and will be scheduled to be taken in the succeeding year. Denial of vacation time shall be given to the employee in writing. If, in the second year, due to the pressure of work as determined by the County, the employee still has accumulated vacation that will be lost, the employee has a right to sell that time only. Such request shall be made in writing by December 1st.

# ARTICLE XXI - STRIKES AND LOCKOUTS

- A) The Union hereby covenants and agrees that during the term of this Agreement, neither the Union nor any person acting in its behalf will cause, authorize, or support, nor will any of its members take part in any strike (i.e., the concerted failure to report for duty or willful absence of any employee from his position, or stoppage of work, or absence in whole or in part, from the full, faithful and proper performance of the employee's duties of employment), work stoppage, slow-down, walk-out, or other illegal job action against the County. The Union agrees that such action would constitute a material breach of this Agreement.
- B) The Union agrees that it will make a reasonable effort to prevent its members from participating in any strike, work stoppage, slow-down, or other activity aforementioned or supporting any such activity by any other employee or group of employees of the County, and that the Union will publicly disavow such action and order all such members who participate in such activities to cease and desist from same immediately and to return to work, and take such other steps as may be necessary under the circumstances to bring about compliance with the Union order.

- C) Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed to limit or restrict the County in its right to seek and obtain such judicial relief as it may be entitled to have in law or in equity for injunction or damages, or both, in the event of such breach by the Union or its members.
- D) The County agrees that it will not engage in the lockout of any of its employees.

#### ARTICLE XXII - SAFETY AND HEALTH

- A) The employer shall at all times maintain safe and healthful working conditions, and will provide employees with any wearing apparel, tools, or devices reasonably necessary in order to insure their safety and health, including, for employees working in the Medical Examiner's Office, Tyvek suits, masks, boots and body bags.
- B) In the case of an emergency, affecting employees covered by this Agreement, declared by local police authorities, it shall be the Employer's duty to notify all Department Heads as soon as possible with respect to an appropriate course of action.
- C) Employees must wear all safety equipment provided to them by the County. Failure to do so shall subject the employee to possible disciplinary action.

# ARTICLE XXIII - EQUAL TREATMENT

- A) The County and the Union agree that there shall be no discrimination against any employee because of race, creed, color, religion, age, sex, national origin, political affiliation, or based upon any other protected class protected by state or federal law.
- B) The County and the Union agree that all members covered under this Agreement have the right without fear of penalty or reprisal to form, join, and assist any employee organization or to refrain from any such activity. There shall be no discrimination by the County or the Union against any member because of member's membership or non-membership or activity or non-activity in the Union.
- C) The County may establish reasonable and necessary rules of work and conduct for employees. Proposed new rules or modifications of existing rules governing working conditions shall be negotiated with the Union before they are established as provided by N.J.S.A.34:13A-5.3.
- D) This Agreement shall be equitably applied to all employees covered by this Agreement.

#### ARTICLE XXIV – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- A) The purpose of this procedure is to secure, at the lowest possible level, an equitable solution to the problems which may arise affecting the terms and conditions of employment under this Agreement.
- B) Nothing herein shall be construed as limiting the right of any employee having a grievance to discuss the matter informally with any appropriate member of the department. The County and the Union will meet periodically at either party's request to discuss and try to settle as many grievances as possible prior to a hearing at Step 3. Both parties commit to settle outstanding grievances without the time and expense of having to go through the process below.

C)

1) With regard to employees, the term "grievance" as used herein means an appeal by an individual employee or the Association on behalf of an individual employee or group of employees, from the interpretation, application or violation of policies, agreements, and

administrative decisions affecting them. With regard to the County, the term "grievance" as used herein means a complaint or controversy arising over the interpretation, application, or alleged violation of the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

- 2) With respect to employee grievances, no grievance may proceed beyond Step One herein unless it constitutes a controversy arising over the interpretation, application, or alleged violation of the terms and conditions of this Agreement. Disputes concerning terms and conditions of employment controlled by statute or administrative regulation, incorporated by reference in this Agreement, either expressly or by operation of law, shall not be processed beyond Step One herein.
- D) The following constitutes the sole and exclusive method for resolving grievances between the parties covered by this Agreement and shall be followed in its entirety unless any step is waived by mutual consent.

Step One: The aggrieved or the Union shall institute action under the provisions hereof within fourteen (14) calendar days after the event giving rise to the grievance has occurred, and an earnest effort shall be made to settle the differences between aggrieved employee and the immediate supervisor for the purpose of resolving the matter informally. Failure to act within said fourteen (14) calendar days shall be deemed to constitute an abandonment of the grievance.

Step Two: If no agreement can be reached orally within fourteen (14) calendar days of the initial discussion with the immediate supervisor, the employee or the Union may present the grievance in writing within fourteen (14) calendar days thereafter to the Department Director or his or her designee. The written grievance at this Step shall contain the relevant facts and a summary of the preceding oral discussion, the applicable Section of this contract violated, and the remedy requested by the grievant. The Department Director or his or her designee will answer the grievance in writing within fourteen (14) calendar days of receipt of the written grievance.

Step Three: If the Union wishes to appeal the decision of the Department Director or his or her designee, such appeal shall be presented in writing within fourteen (14) calendar days thereafter to the Division of Human Resources to be scheduled for a hearing before a County designated Hearing Officer. The County and the Union shall attempt to agree on which matters are scheduled for presentation to the County Hearing Officer on each hearing date. If no agreement is reached, each party shall have the right to designate fifty percent (50%) of the matters to be heard.

Step Four: If either party wishes to appeal the decision of the Hearing Officer, such appeal shall be presented in writing to the County Administrator within fourteen (14) calendar days thereafter. This presentation shall include copies of all previous correspondence relating to the matter in dispute. The County Administrator, or his designee, shall respond in writing to the grievance within twenty (20) calendar days of the submission. In the case of Court employees, appeal at this step shall be to the Assignment Judge, whose decision shall be final.

Step Five: If the grievance is not settled through Steps One, Two, Three, and Four, either party shall have the right within fifteen (15) work days to submit the dispute to arbitration pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Public Employment Relations Commission.

The costs for the services of the arbitrator shall be borne equally by the County and the Union. Any other expenses, including but not limited to the presentation of witnesses, shall be paid by the parties incurring same.

E)

- 1) The parties direct the arbitrator to decide, as a preliminary question, whether he has jurisdiction to hear and decide the matter in dispute.
- 2) The arbitrator shall be bound by the provisions of this Agreement and the Constitution and Laws of the State of New Jersey and be restricted to the application of the facts presented to him involved in the grievance. The arbitrator shall not have the authority to add to, modify, detract from or alter in any way the provisions of this Agreement or any amendment or supplement thereto.

The decision of the arbitrator shall be in writing with reasons therefore and shall be final and binding on the parties.

- 3) Upon prior notice to and authorization of the County Administrator, the designated Union Representative shall be permitted to confer with members of the Grievance Committee, employees, and other County officials on specific grievances in accordance with the grievance procedure set forth herein during work hours of employees, without loss of pay, provided the conduct of said business does not diminish the effectiveness of the County of Camden or require the recall of off-duty employees.
- 4) The time limits expressed herein shall be strictly adhered to. If any grievance has not been initiated within the time limits specified, or if the grievance is not processed to the next succeeding step in the grievance procedure within the time limits prescribed thereunder, then the disposition of the grievance at the last preceding step shall be deemed to be conclusive. If a decision is not rendered within the time limits prescribed for decision at any step in the grievance procedure, then the grievance shall be deemed to have been denied. Nothing herein shall prevent the parties from mutually agreeing to extend or contract the time limits for processing the grievance at any step in the grievance procedure.
- 5) In the event that the aggrieved elects to pursue remedies available through the Civil Service or EEO or Civil Rights complaint procedures, the grievance shall be cancelled, and the matter withdrawn from this procedure. It is agreed between the parties that no arbitration hearing shall be held until after the expiration of at least thirty (30) calendar days after the decision rendered by the Administrator on the grievance. In the event the grievant pursues his remedies through Civil Service, the arbitration hearing, if any, shall be cancelled and the filing fees and expenses incurred thereby shall be paid by the grievant or the Union.
- 6) The Union Representative will notify the Division of Human Resources in writing of the name of the employee who is designated by the Representative to represent employees under the grievance procedure. The employee so designated by the Representative will be permitted to confer with other representatives, employees, and with the committee representatives regarding matters of employee representation during working hours without loss of pay for periods not in excess of three (3) hours per week in any calendar week.

#### ARTICLE XXV – WORKERS' COMPENSATION

- A) When an employee is injured on duty, and meets the qualifications for Workers' Compensation, the employee will receive workers' compensation due him/her plus the difference between the amount received as compensation and net salary during the period of temporary disability, to a maximum of thirty (30) working days. Employees entitled to Workers' Compensation benefits under this Section shall continue to receive a regular paycheck from the County subject to an assignment by the employee of the Workers' Compensation benefits due and payable to him/her for this period.
- B) In the event of continued temporary disability beyond the thirty (30) day period aforementioned, the eligible employee will continue to receive Workers' Compensation. If the employee is entitled to use and authorizes the County to charge time to accumulated sick, vacation or personal leave, the employee may receive the difference between the amount received as Workers' compensation and his/her salary, and shall continue to receive a regular paycheck from the County subject to an assignment by the employee of the Workers' Compensation benefits for such period as the employee has earned time to make up the difference between the Workers' Compensation benefits and his/her salary.
- C) An employee shall be permitted time off from work, including reasonable travel time, with no loss of pay or deduction from the employee's accumulated leave, in order to receive medical treatment when the appointment has been scheduled by the County or its Workers Compensation Carrier to take place during the employee's regular work day.

## ARTICLE XXVI – GENERAL PROVISIONS

- A) It is agreed that the representatives of the County and CWA Local 1014 may meet from time to time to discuss matters of general interest and concern, matters which are not grievances. Such meetings shall be scheduled upon mutual agreement between the parties.
  - The parties further agree to establish a Labor-Management Committee to meet on a regular basis to discuss issues confronting the County and its work force. Topics shall include, but not be limited to, health care costs, layoffs, and training for displaced employees. The Committee shall consist of a mutually agreed upon number of members with half designated by the County and the other half designated by CWA Local 1014.
- B) Employees who are covered by this Agreement shall perform the duties and responsibilities outlined in the New Jersey Department of Civil Service job specifications for their positions.
- C) Agents of the Union who are employees of the County of Camden will be permitted to visit with employees during working hours at their work stations for the purpose of discussing Union representation matters, as long as there is no undue interference with the Employer's work. Whenever any employee of the County who is a representative of the Union is mutually scheduled to participate during work hours in negotiations, grievance proceedings, conferences or meetings, he shall suffer no loss in regular pay or be charged with sick leave or vacation time. Employees will be allowed to leave their work stations up to one-half (1/2) hour prior to the meetings and will be required to return to their work station at the conclusion of the meeting provided there is at least one and one-half (1 ½) hours of work time remaining.
- D) Delegates of the Union will be permitted to attend New Jersey Civil Service Association meetings and conventions, without loss of pay, in accordance with R.S. 38:23.2.

- E) Part-time employees are those individuals employed under 30 hours per week. Permanent part-time employees will earn vacation time, sick time, and personal days on a pro-rated basis. Temporary or provisional part-time employees do not receive personal days, vacation or sick time. Part-time employees employed at less than twenty (20) hours per week, which shall increase to at less than twenty-five (25) hours per week with the signing of the contract, are not entitled to health or prescription benefits. No part-time employees are entitled to overtime or earned compensatory time.
- F) The County shall be responsible for printing, in booklet form, this Collective Bargaining Agreement within 60 days of its execution of the parties. The costs of printing will be shared equally by the parties. At least 2,000 copies shall be supplied to CWA Local 1014.
- G) Effective upon the signing of this Agreement, the County will require a bargaining unit member assuming the presidency of Camden Council # 10 to waive his/her full salary and accept an annual salary of \$7,500 for the duration of the term of office. During such period of time, the County agrees to continue to provide that employee with all health benefits, including prescription and appropriate Health and Welfare contribution and to continue contributions on the employee's behalf to PERS, but shall be obligated to provide no other contractual benefits. At the conclusion of said term of office, the County agrees to reinstate the employee to the then current contractual salary for the employee's title.
  - The County further agrees, effective November 1, 1993, to provide CWA Local 1014 with reasonable office space for the rent of \$1.00 per year in a centrally located County facility.
- H) A "hyperlink" to the New Jersey Department of Personnel webpage listing open competitive and promotional announcements will be provided on the Camden County Today website. Effective with the signing of the contract, where practicable, a job opening for a newly created position or a vacancy in an existing position shall be posted on a centrally located bulletin board in the affected department for a period of at least five working days prior to filling the position. The posting requirement shall not apply to temporary or provisional appointments. Employees may submit their qualifications for such openings to the Department Director for consideration. The determination of the County as to the employee selected for the position is solely a County managerial determination. A copy of the posting will be sent to the Local 1014 president.
- I) Representatives of the County and CWA Local 1014 shall meet, at either party's request, to discuss issues associated with the sell-back of compensatory time.
- J) Local 1014 as well as the affected employee shall receive a copy of any disciplinary action and attachment(s) which are placed in an employee's file. All employees shall have the right to review their personnel files upon reasonable request.
- K) The County will allow employees to make payroll deductions for any lawful group, cause, charity, or organization, from which deductions are being made at the time of the execution of this Agreement, provided the proper authorization is submitted. Deductions for any new groups, causes, charities, or organizations shall be granted with the consent of both the Union and the County.
- L) Reasonable space will be provided by the County for Local 1014 materials to be posted on centrally located bulletin boards at such work sites as shall be mutually agreed upon. This space shall be designated solely for Local 1014 use.

- M) Local 1014 representatives will be entitled to use the County's telephones, fax machines, and e-mail system to communicate with employees in carrying out the Local 1014's representational duties, and employees will likewise be permitted to use such equipment to contact their Local 1014 representatives in regard to matters of representation. It is understood that such use shall be reasonable and shall not interfere with work operations.
- N) In any case where a bargaining unit member is subject to major disciplinary action under N.J.A.C. 4A:2-2.3 and must be afforded the opportunity for a hearing prior to the imposition of major discipline, the County shall agree to continue its prior practice of automatically scheduling the matter for a disciplinary hearing. The County shall issue to the employee, the Local 1014 and the Local 1014's counsel, a Preliminary Notice of Disciplinary Action (DPF-31A) which will set forth the charges, the specification, the penalty sought and the hearing date and time. In such cases, the Local 1014 agrees to waive the requirement that under N.J.S.A. 11A:2-13, the hearing shall be held within thirty (30) days of the notice of disciplinary action.
- O) Effective the first pay period of 1998, eligible employees had longevity pay added to their base pay. Employees subject to this conversion, who remain employed by the County, shall continue to receive the conversion amount, as adjusted by subsequent rates of pay increases, as part of their base pay.

#### ARTICLE XXVII - SEPARABILITY AND SAVINGS

Each and every clause of this Agreement shall be deemed separable from each and every other clause of this Agreement to the extent that in the event any clause or clauses shall be finally determined to be in violation of any law, then in such event, such clause or clauses, only to the extent that any may be so in violation shall be deemed of no force and effect and unenforceable without impairing the validity and enforceability of the rest of the Agreement, including any and all provisions on the remainder of any clause, sentence, or paragraph in which offending language may appear.

#### ARTICLE XXVIII - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- A) The County of Camden hereby retains and reserves unto itself, without limitation, all powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities conferred upon and vested in it prior to the signing of this Agreement by the laws and constitution of the State of New Jersey and of the United States, including, but without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the following rights:
  - 1) The executive management administrative control of the County government and its properties and facilities and activities of its employees by utilizing personnel, methods, and means of the most appropriate and efficient manner possible as may from time to time be determined by the County.
  - 2) To make rules of procedure and conduct, to use improved methods and equipment, to determine work schedules and shifts, to decide the number of employees needed for any particular time, and to be in sole charge of the quality and quantity of work required.
  - 3) The right of management to make, maintain and amend such reasonable rules and regulations as it may from time to time deem best for the purposes of maintaining order, safety, and/or the effective operation of the Department after advance notice thereof to the employees to require compliance by the employees is recognized.

- 4) To hire all employees, and subject to the provisions of law, to determine their qualifications and conditions of continued employment, or assignment, and to promote and transfer employees.
- 5) To suspend, demote, discharge, or take any other appropriate disciplinary action against any employee for good and just cause according to law.
- 6) To lay off employees in the event of lack of work or funds or under conditions where continuation of such work would be inefficient and non-productive.
- 7) The County reserves the right with regard to all other conditions of employment not reserved to make such changes as it deems desirable and necessary for the efficiency and effective operation of the Department.
- 8) In the exercise of the foregoing powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities of the County, the adoption of policies, rules, regulations and practices and the furtherance thereof, and the use of judgment and discretion in connection therewith, shall be limited only to the specific and express terms of this Agreement and then only to the extent such specific and express terms hereof are in conformance with the Constitution and Laws of New Jersey and of the United States.
- 9) Nothing contained herein shall be construed to deny or restrict the County of its rights, responsibilities, and authority under R.S. 40A, or any other national, state, county, or local laws or regulations.

# ARTICLE XXIX – FULLY BARGAINED AGREEMENT

- A) This Agreement represents and incorporates the complete and final understanding and settlement by the parties of all bargainable issues which were or could have been the subject of negotiations.
- B) During the term of this Agreement, neither party will be required to negotiate with respect to any such matter, whether or not covered by this Agreement, and whether or not within the knowledge or contemplation of either or both parties at the time they negotiated or signed this Agreement.

#### ARTICLE XXX – DURATION

This Agreement shall be in force and effect as of January 1, 2019 and shall remain in effect to and including December 31, 2023, without any reopening date. This Agreement shall continue in full force and effect from year to year thereafter, until one party or the other gives notice, in writing, no sooner than one hundred fifty (150) nor no later than one hundred twenty (120) days prior to the expiration of this Agreement of a desire to change, modify or terminate this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have hereunto set their hands and seals at the County of Camden, New Jersey on this date August 4,2021

For Camden County Board of Commissioners	For CWA Local 1014  Janen MSt 7/28/2021
ROSS G. ANGILELLA COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR	Buga & Bu 7/28/21
	Matthew Jrentsel
5-4-2021	Dated

#### APPENDIX A - P.L. 2011 CHAPTER 78

Note: Effective June 28, 2011, all active unit employees who have not waived health and prescription benefits, shall contribute towards the cost of health insurance, in accordance with the provisions of P.L. 2011, Chapter 78. These payments shall be made on a pre-tax basis, pursuant to an IRS Section 125 salary reduction premium only plan, in accordance with the City's regular payroll practices. The following charts reflect the phase-in of contribution levels for employees employed on the contribution's effective date who will pay ¼, ½, ¾ and the full amount of the contribution rate during the phase-in years. To calculate your total percentage of premiums, apply the appropriate percentage based upon salary and type of coverage to the premium cost of the prescription and medical plan to which you are enrolled

PREMIUM CONTRIBUTIONS REQUIRED BY P.L. 2011, CH 78										
SINGLE COVERAGE										
(PERCENTAGE OF PREMIUM) *										
Salary Range Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4										
less than 20,000	1.13%	2.25%	3.38%	4.50%						
20,000-24,999.99	1.38%	2.75%	4.13%	5.50%						
25,000-29,999.99	1.88%	3.75%	5.63%	7.50%						
30,000-34,999.99	2.50%	5.00%	7.50%	10.00%						
35,000-39,999.99	2.75%	5.50%	8.25%	11.00%						
40,000-44,999.99	3.00%	6.00%	9.00%	12.00%						
45,000-49,999.99	3.50%	7.00%	10.50%	14.00%						
50,000-54,999.99	5.00%	10.00%	15.00%	20.00%						
55,000-59,999.99	5.75%	11.50%	17.25%	23,00%						
60,000-64,999.99	6.75%	13.50%	20.25%	27.00%						
65,000-69,999.99	7.25%	14.50%	21.75%	29.00%						
70,000-74,999.99	8.00%	16.00%	24.00%	32.00%						
75,000-79,999.99	8.25%	16.50%	24.75%	33.00%						
80,000-94,999.99	8.50%	17.00%	25.50%	34.00%						
95,000 and over	8.75%	17.50%	26.25%	35.00%						

<sup>\*</sup>Member contribution is a minimum of 1.5% of base salary towards Health Benefits

PREMIUM CONTRIBUTIONS REQUIRED BY P.L. 2011, CH 78											
MEMBER/SPOUSE/PARTNER OR PARENT/CHILD COVERAGE											
(PERCENTAGE OF PREMIUM) *											
Salary Range	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	Year 4							
less than 25,000	0.88%	1.75%	2.63%	3.50%							
25,000-29,999.99	1.13%	2.25%	3.38%	4.50%							
30,000-34,999.99	1.50%	3.00%	4.50%	6.00%							
35,000-39,999.99	1.75%	3.50%	5.25%	7.00%							
40,000-44,999.99	2.00%	4.00%	6.00%	8.00%							
45,000-49,999.99	2.50%	5.00%	7.50%	10.00%							
50,000-54,999.99	3.75%	7.50%	11.25%	15.00%							
55,000-59,999.99	4.25%	8.50%	12.75%	17.00%							
60,000-64,999.99	5.25%	10.50%	15.75%	21.00%							
65,000-69,999.99	5.75%	11.50%	17.25%	23.00%							
70,000-74,999.99	6.50%	13.00%	19.50%	26.00%							
75,000-79,999.99	6.75%	13.50%	20.25%	27.00%							
80,000-84,999.99	7.00%	14.00%	21.00%	28.00%							
85,000-99,999.99	7.50%	15.00%	22.50%	30.00%							
100,000 and over	8.75%	17.50%	26.25%	35.00%							

<sup>\*</sup>Member contribution is a minimum of 1.5% of base salary towards Health Benefits

PREMIUM CONTRIBUTIONS REQUIRED BY P.L. 2011, CH 78										
FAMILY COVERAGE										
(PERCENTAGE OF PREMIUM) *										
Salary Range	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	Year 4						
less than 25,000	0.75%	1.50%	2.25%	3.00%						
25,000-29,999.99	1.00%	2.00%	3.00%	4.00%						
30,000-34,999.99	1.25%	2.50%	3.75%	5.00%						
35,000-39,999.99	1.50%	3.00%	4.50%	6.00%						
40,000-44,999.99	1.75%	3.50%	5.25%	7.00%						
45,000-49,999.99	2.25%	4.50%	6.75%	9.00%						
50,000-54,999.99	3.00%	6.00%	9.00%	12.00%						
55,000-59,999.99	3.50%	7.00%	10.50%	14.00%						
60,000-64,999.99	4.25%	8.50%	12.75%	17.00%						
65,000-69,999.99	4.75%	9.50%	14.25%	19.00%						
70,000-74,999.99	5.50%	11.00%	16.50%	22.00%						
75,000-79,999.99	5.75%	11.50%	17.25%	23.00%						
80,000-84,999.99	6.00%	12.00%	18.00%	24.00%						
85,000-89,999.99	6.50%	13,00%	19.50%	26.00%						
90,000-94,999.99	7.00%	14.00%	21.00%	28.00%						
95,000-99,999.99	7.25%	14.50%	21.75%	29.00%						
100,000-109,999.99	8.00%	16.00%	24.00%	32.00%						
110,000 and over	8.75%	17.50%	26.25%	35.00%						

<sup>\*</sup>Member contribution is a minimum of 1.5% of base salary towards Health Benefits

# APPENDIX B

HIRED PRIOR TO 10/26/10 WITH HOLIDAY PAY (6 STEP SCALE)			2019		2020		2021		2022		2023
JUVENILE DETENTION OFFICER	-	\$32,9078	\$68,448,12	\$33,5659	\$69,817,08	\$34.3211	\$71,387.97	\$35.0934	\$72,994,20	535.9707	\$74,819.05
JUVENILE DETENTION OFFICER FILLING S/E	B B	\$33,4958	\$69,671.10	\$34,1657	\$71,064.52	\$34.9344	\$72,563,47	\$35,7204	\$74,298.40	\$36,6135	\$76,155.86
SENIOR JUVENILE DETENTION OFFICER	8	\$34.5261	\$71,814.12	\$35,2166	\$73,250.40	\$36.0090	\$74,898,54	.\$36,8192	\$76,583.75	\$37,7397	\$78,498.35
	<b> </b>				<u> </u>		ļ				
PUBLIC SAFETY TELECOMMUNICATOR	8.4	\$30.5141	\$66,642.72	\$31.1244	\$67,975.57	\$31,8247	\$69,505.02	\$32.5408	\$71,068.89	\$33.3543	\$72,845.61
SENIOR PUBLIC SAFETY TELECOMMUNICATOR	8.4	\$35,5725	\$77,690.34	\$36,2840	\$79,244.15	\$37.1003	\$81,027.14	\$37,9351	\$82,850.25	\$38.8835	\$84,921.53

HIRED PRIOR TO 10/26/10 (6 STEP SCALE)											
RECORDS SUPPORT TECH 1 – SHERIFF DEPARTMENT ONLY	8	\$30,0533	\$62,510.70	\$30.6543	\$63,760.91	\$31.3441	\$65,195,53	\$32.0493	\$66,662.43	\$32.8505	\$68,328.99
RECORDS SUPPORT TECH 2 - SHERIFF DEPARTMENT ONLY	8	\$32.4770	\$67,551.54	\$33.1265	\$68,902.57	\$33.871 <u>9</u>	\$70,452.88	\$34.6340	\$72,038.07	\$35,4999	\$73,839.02

<sup>\*\*\*\*\*</sup>PURSUANT TO THE CONTRACT SENIOR JDO WILL MAKE \$1,000 ABOVE THE TOP PAID JUVENILE DETENTION OFFICER WHEN APPOINTED

7DV3228.DOCX

#### APPENDIX C

HIRED AFTER 10/26/10 BUT BY 9/28/15 WITH HOLIDAY PAY (NO STEP SCALE)			2019		2020		2021		2022		2023
											i
JUVENILE DETENTION OFFICER	8	\$29.1135	\$60,555.36	\$29.6957	\$61,766.47	\$30.3639	\$63,156.21	\$31.0471	\$64,577.23	\$31.8232	\$65,191.66
JUVENILE DETENTION OFFICER FILLING S/E	8	\$29,6850	\$61,744.68	\$30.2787	\$62,979.57	\$30,9599	\$64,396.61	\$31.6565	\$65,845.54	\$32,4479	\$67,491.68
SENIOR JUVENILE DETENTION OFFICER	8	\$30,5750	\$63,595.98	\$31.1865	\$64,867.90	\$31.8882	\$66,327.43	\$32.6057	\$67,819.79	\$33,4208	\$69,515.29
	+										
PUBLIC SAFETY TELECOMMUNICATOR	8.4	\$27.6456	\$60,377.88	\$28,1985	\$61,585.44	\$28.8329	\$62,971.11	\$29.4817	\$64,387.96	\$30,2187	\$65,997.66
SENIOR PUBLIC SAFETY TELECOMMUNICATOR	8.4	\$32.2178	\$70,363.68	\$32.8622	\$71,770.95	\$33.6016	\$73,385.80	\$34.3576	\$75,036.98	535,2166	\$76,912.91

HIRED AFTER 10/26/10 (NO STEP SCALE)											
RECORDS SUPPORT TECH 1 – SHERIFF DEPARTMENT ONLY	8	\$26.3043	\$54,712.80	\$26.8304	\$55,807.06	\$27,4340	\$57,062.71	\$28.0513	\$58,346.63	\$28.7526	\$59,805.29
RECORDS SUPPORT TECH 2 – SHERIFF DEPARTMENT ONLY	8	\$28.7282	\$59,753.64	\$29.3028	\$60,948.71	\$29.9621	\$62,320.06	\$30,6362	\$63,722.26	\$31.4021	\$65,315.32

HIRED AFTER 9/28/15 (NO HOLIDAY PAY)											
JUVENILE DETENTION OFFICER	8	\$26,6252	\$55,379,88	\$27,1577	\$56,487.48	\$27.7687	\$57,758.45	\$28.3935	\$59,058.01	\$29.1033	\$60,534.46
JUVENILE DETENTION OFFICER FILLING S/E	8	\$27,3459	\$56,879.28	\$27.8928	\$58,016.87	\$28.5204	\$59,322.25	\$29,1621	\$60,657.00	\$29,8912	\$62,173.42
SENIOR JUVENILE DETENTION OFFICER	8	\$27.7323	\$57,683,04	\$28.2869	\$58,836.70	\$28.9234	\$60,160.53	\$29.5741	\$61,514.14	\$30.3135	\$63,051.99
PUBLIC SAFETY TELECOMMUNICATOR, TRAINEE	8.4	\$22.7276	\$49,636.26	\$23.1822	\$50,628.99	\$23.7038	\$51,768.14	\$24.2371	\$52,932.92	\$24.8431	\$54,256.24
PUBLIC SAFETY TELECOMMUNICATOR	8.4	\$25.2757	\$55,201.38	\$25.7812	\$56,305.41	\$26.3613	\$57,572.28	\$26.9544	\$58,867.66	\$27.6283	\$60,339.35
SENIOR PUBLIC SAFETY TELECOMMUNICATOR	8.4	\$29.5097	\$64,448.70	\$30,0999	\$65,737.67	\$30.7772	\$67,216.77	\$31.4697	\$68,729.15	\$32,2564	\$70,447.38

POLICE AIDE 8 \$19,9299 \$41,453.82 \$20,3285 \$42,282.90 \$20,7859 \$43,234.26 \$21,2536 \$44,207.03 \$21,7849 \$45,312.21

7DV3228.DOCX

<sup>\*\*\*\*\*</sup>PURSUANT TO THE CONTRACT SENIOR JOO WILL MAKE \$1,000 ABOVE THE TOP PAID JUVENILE DETENTION OFFICER WHEN APPOINTED

# APPENDIX C

# N.J. Stat. § 34:11D-1

This section is current through New Jersey 219th First Annual Session, L. 2020, c. 155, and J.R. 6

LexisNexis® New Jersey Annotated Statutes > Title 34. Labor and Workers' Compensation (Chs. 1 — 21) > Chapter 11D. Sick Leave (§§ 34:11D-1 — 34:11D-13)

# § 34:11D-1. Definitions relative to earned sick leave

For the purposes of this act:

"Benefit year" means the period of 12 consecutive months established by an employer in which an employee shall accrue and use earned sick leave as provided pursuant to section 2 [C 34:11D-2] of this act, provided that once the starting date of the benefit year is established by the employer it shall not be changed unless the employer notifies the commissioner of the change in accordance with regulations promulgated pursuant to this act. The commissioner shall impose a benefit year on any employer that the commissioner determines is changing the benefit year at times or in ways that prevent the accrual or use of earned sick leave by an employee.

"Certified Domestic Violence Specialist" means a person who has fulfilled the requirements of certification as a Domestic Violence Specialist established by the New Jersey Association of Domestic Violence Professionals.

"Child" means a biological, adopted, or foster child, stepchild or legal ward of an employee, child of a domestic partner or civil union partner of the employee.

"Civil union" means a civil union as defined in section 2 of PL 2006. c 103 (C 37:1-29).

"Commissioner" means the Commissioner of Labor and Workforce Development.

"Department" means the Department of Labor and Workforce Development.

"Designated domestic violence agency" means a county-wide organization with a primary purpose to provide services to victims of domestic violence, and which provides services that conform to the core domestic violence services profile as defined by the Division of Child Protection and Permanency in the Department of Children and Families and is under contract with the division for the express purpose of providing the services.

"Domestic or sexual violence" means stalking, any sexually violent offense, as defined in section 3 of  $P.L. 1998 \pm 71$  (C 30 4-27 26), or domestic violence as defined in section 3 of P.L. 1991, c.261 (C 27 25-19) and section 1 of  $P.L. 2003 \pm 41$  (C 17 298-16).

"Domestic partner" means a domestic partner as defined in section 3 of P.L. 2003. c. 246 (C.26 &A-3)

"Employee" means an individual engaged in service to an employer in the business of the employer for compensation. "Employee" does not include an employee performing service in the construction industry that is under contract pursuant to a collective bargaining agreement, or a per diem health care employee, or a public employee who is provided with sick leave with full pay pursuant to any other law, rule, or regulation of this State.

"Employer" means any person, firm, business, educational Institution, nonprofit agency, corporation, limited liability company or other entity that employs employees in the State, including a temporary help service firm. In the case of a temporary help service firm placing an employee with client firms, earned sick leave shall accrue on the basis of the total time worked on assignment with the temporary help service firm, not separately for each client firm to which the employee is assigned. "Employer" does not

#### N.J. Stat. § 34:11D-1

include a public employer that is required to provide its employees with sick leave with full play pursuant to any other law, rule or regulation of this State.

"Family member" means a child, grandchild, sibling, spouse, domestic partner, civil union partner, parent, or grandparent of an employee, or a spouse, domestic partner, or civil union partner of a parent or grandparent of the employee, or a sibling of a spouse, domestic partner, or civil union partner of the employee, or any other individual related by blood to the employee or whose close association with the employee is the equivalent of a family relationship.

"Health care professional" means any person licensed under federal, State, or local law, or the laws of a foreign nation, to provide health care services, or any other person who has been authorized to provide health care by a licensed health care professional, including but not limited to doctors, nurses and emergency room personnel.

"Parent" means a biological, adoptive, or foster parent, stepparent, or legal guardian of an employee or of the employee's spouse, domestic partner, or civil union partner, or a person who stood in loco parentis of the employee or the employee's spouse, domestic partner, or civil union partner when the employee, spouse or partner was a minor child.

"Per diem health care employee" means any:

(1)health care professional licensed in the State of New Jersey employed by a health care facility licensed by the New Jersey Department of Health;

(2)any individual that is in the process of applying to the New Jersey Division of Consumer Affairs for a license to provide health care services who is employed by a health care facility licensed by the New Jersey Department of Health; or

(3)any first aid, rescue or ambulance squad member employed by a hospital system.

An employee listed in paragraphs (1), (2), and (3) of this definition shall be considered a per diem health care employee if that employee:

(1)works on an as-needed basis to supplement a health care employee, or to replace or substitute for a temporarily absent health care employee;

(2)works only when the employee indicates that the employee is available to work, and has no obligation to work when the employee does not indicate availability; and

#### (3)either:

(a)has the opportunity for full time or part time employment in their scope of practice under that healthcare provider which offers paid time off benefits greater in length than provided under this act under the terms of employment; or

(b)has waived earned sick leave benefits as provided under this act under terms of employment for alternative benefits or consideration.

"Per diem health care employee" shall not include any individual who is certified as a homemaker-home health aide.

"Retaliatory personnel action" means denial of any right guaranteed under this act and any threat, discharge, including a constructive discharge, suspension, demotion, unfavorable reassignment, refusal to promote, disciplinary action, sanction, reduction of work hours, reporting or threatening to report the actual or suspected immigrant status of an employee or the employee's family, or any other adverse action against an employee.

"Sibling" means a biological, foster, or adopted sibling of an employee.

"Spouse" means a husband or wife.

# APPENDIX C

N.J. Stat. § 34:11D-1	Page 3 of 3
History	
L. <u>2018, c. 10,</u> § 1, eff. Oct. 29, 2018.	
Annotations .	
Notes	
Publisher's Notes	
The bracketed material was added by the Publisher to provide a reference.  Effective Dates	
Section 12 of L. <u>2018. c 10</u> provides: "This act shall take effect on the 180th day next follo Chapter 10, L. 2018, was approved on May 2, 2018.	owing enactment.*
LexisNexis® New Jersey Annotated Statutes Copyright © 2021 All rights reserved.	
End of Document	

# N.J. Stat. § 34:11D-3

This section is current through New Jersey 219th First Annual Session, L. 2020, c. 155, and J.R. 6

LexisNexis® New Jersey Annotated Statutes > Title 34. Labor and Workers' Compensation (Chs. 1 — 21) > Chapter 11D. Sick Leave (§§ 34:11D-1 — 34:11D-13)

# § 34:11D-3. Permitted usage of earned sick leave

a.An employer shall permit an employee to use the earned sick leave accrued pursuant to this act for any of the following:

(1)time needed for diagnosis, care, or treatment of, or recovery from, an employee's mental or physical illness, injury or other adverse health condition, or for preventive medical care for the employee;

(2)time needed for the employee to aid or care for a family member of the employee during diagnosis, care, or treatment of, or recovery from, the family member's mental or physical illness, injury or other adverse health condition, or during preventive medical care for the family member;

(3) absence necessary due to circumstances resulting from the employee, or a family member of the employee, being a victim of domestic or sexual violence, if the leave is to allow the employee to obtain for the employee or the family member; medical attention needed to recover from physical or psychological injury or disability caused by domestic or sexual violence; services from a designated domestic violence agency or other victim services organization; psychological or other counseling; relocation; or legal services, including obtaining a restraining order or preparing for, or participating in, any civil or criminal legal proceeding related to the domestic or sexual violence;

(4)time during which the employee is not able to work because of:

(a)a closure of the employee's workplace, or the school or place of care of a child of the employee by order of a public official or because of a state of emergency declared by the Governor, due to an epidemic or other public health emergency;

(b)the declaration of a state of emergency by the Governor, or the issuance by a health care provider or the Commissioner of Health or other public health authority of a determination that the presence in the community of the employee, or a member of the employee's family in need of care by the employee, would jeopardize the health of others;

(c)during a state of emergency declared by the Governor, or upon the recommendation, direction, or order of a healthcare provider or the Commissioner of Health or other authorized public official, the employee undergoes isolation or quarantine, or cares for a family member in quarantine, as a result of suspected exposure to a communicable disease and a finding by the provider or authority that the presence in the community of the employee or family member would jeopardize the health of others; or

(5)time needed by the employee in connection with a child of the employee to attend a school-related conference, meeting, function or other event requested or required by a school administrator, teacher, or other professional staff member responsible for the child's education, or to attend a meeting regarding care provided to the child in connection with the child's health conditions or disability.

**b.**If an employee's need to use earned sick leave is foreseeable, an employer may require advance notice, not to exceed seven calendar days prior to the date the leave is to begin, of the intention to use the leave and its expected duration, and shall make a reasonable effort to schedule the use of earned sick leave in a manner that does not unduly disrupt the operations of the employer. If the reason for the leave is not foreseeable, an

#### N.J. Stat. § 34:11D-3

employer may require an employee to give notice of the intention as soon as practicable, if the employer has notified the employee of this requirement. Employers may prohibit employees from using foreseeable earned sick leave on certain dates, and require reasonable documentation if sick leave that is not foreseeable is used during those dates. For earned sick leave of three or more consecutive days, an employer may require reasonable documentation that the leave is being taken for the purpose permitted under subsection a, of this section. If the leave is permitted under paragraph (1) or (2) of subsection a, of this section, documentation signed by a health care professional who is treating the employee or the family member of the employee indicating the need for the leave and, if possible, number of days of leave, shall be considered reasonable documentation. If the leave is permitted under paragraph (3) of subsection a. of this section because of domestic or sexual violence, any of the following shall be considered reasonable documentation of the domestic or sexual violence: medical documentation; a law enforcement agency record or report; a court order; documentation that the perpetrator of the domestic or sexual violence has been convicted of a domestic or sexual violence offense; certification from a certified Domestic Violence Specialist or a representative of a designated domestic violence agency or other victim services organization; or other documentation or certification provided by a social worker, counselor, member of the clergy, shelter worker, health care professional, attorney, or other professional who has assisted the employee or family member in dealing with the domestic or sexual violence. If the leave is permitted under paragraph (4) of subsection a. of this section, a copy of the order of the public official or the determination by the health authority shall be considered reasonable documentation.

c.Nothing in this act shall be deemed to require an employer to provide earned sick leave for an employee's leave for purposes other than those identified in this section, or prohibit the employer from taking disciplinary action against an employee who uses earned sick leave for purposes other than those identified in this section. An employer may provide an offer to an employee for a payment of unused earned sick leave in the final month of the employer's benefit year. The employee shall choose, no later than 10 calendar days from the date of the employer's offer, whether to accept a payment or decline a payment. If the employee agrees to receive a payment, the employee shall choose a payment for the full amount of unused earned sick leave or for 50 percent of the amount of unused earned sick leave. The payment amount shall be based on the same rate of pay that the employee earns at the time of the payment. If the employee declines a payment for unused earned sick leave, or agrees to a payment for 50 percent of the amount of unused sick leave, the employee shall be entitled to carry forward any unused or unpaid earned sick leave to the proceeding benefit year as provided pursuant to subsection a. of section 2 [C 34·11D-2] of this act. If the employee agrees to a payment for the full amount of unused earned sick leave, the employee shall not be entitled to carry forward any earned sick leave to the proceeding benefit year pursuant to subsection a. of section 2 of this act.

d.If an employer foregoes the accrual process for earned sick leave hours pursuant to subsection a. of section 2 [C 34 \*10-2] of this act and provides an employee with the full complement of earned sick leave for a benefit year on the first day of each benefit year, then the employer shall either provide to the employee a payment for the full amount of unused earned sick leave in the final month of the employer's benefit year or carry forward any unused sick leave to the next benefit year. The employer may pay the employee the full amount of unused earned sick leave in the final month of a benefit year pursuant to this subsection only if the employer forgoes, with respect to that employee, the accrual process for earned sick leave during the next benefit year. Unless an employer policy or collective bargaining agreement provides for the payment of accrued earned sick leave upon termination, resignation, retirement or other separation from employment, an employee shall not be entitled under this section to payment of unused earned sick leave upon the separation from employment.

e.Any information an employer possesses regarding the health of an employee or any family member of the employee or domestic or sexual violence affecting an employee or employee's family member shall be treated as confidential and not disclosed except to the affected employee or with the written permission of the affected employee.

# History

Page 3 of 3

N.J. Stat. § 34:11D-3

L. <u>2018, c. 10,</u> § 3, eff. Oct. 29, 2018; amended <u>2020, c. 17,</u> § 1, eff. Mar. 25, 2020,

**Annotations** 

#### Notes

#### **Publisher's Notes**

The bracketed material was added by the Publisher to provide a reference.

#### **Effective Dates**

Section 12 of L. 2018, c. 10 provides: "This act shall take effect on the 180th day next following enactment." Chapter 10, L. 2018, was approved on May 2, 2018.

#### **Amendment Notes**

2020 amendment, by Chapter 17, rewrote (4), which formerly read: "time during which the employee is not able to work because of a closure of the employee's workplace, or the school or place of care of a child of the employee by order of a public official due to an epidemic or other public health emergency, or because of the issuance by a public health authority of a determination that the presence in the community of the employee, or a member of the employee's family in need of care by the employee, would jeopardize the health of others; or."

LexisNexis® New Jersey Annotated Statutes Copyright © 2021 All rights reserved.

Fad of Document